
The Park District of Oak Park welcomes the opportunity to assist residents and visitors with disabilities. If you 
need special accommodations for this meeting, please call (708) 725-2052 or via email at bill.hamilton@pdop.org. 

In partnership with the community, we enrich lives by providing meaningful experiences through programs, parks, and facilities. 

PARK DISTRICT OF OAK PARK 
Committee of the Whole Meeting 

John Hedges Administrative Center 
218 Madison Street, Oak Park, Illinois 60302 

Thursday, September 4, 2025,  
Directly Following the Continued Regular Board Meeting 

AGENDA 

I. Call to Order/Roll Call

II. Public Comment
Each person is limited to three minutes. The Board sets a limit of 30 minutes for public 
comments.

III. Parks and Planning Committee – Commissioner Worley-Hood

IV. Administration and Finance Committee – Commissioner Wollmuth
A. Community Service Award Discussion
B. Elected Officials BBQ Update
C. Board of Commissioner’s General Practices Manual Update*
D. Proposed 2025 Tax Levy**

V. Recreation and Facility Program Committee – Commissioner Lentz

VI. New Business

VII. Closed Session

VIII. Adjournment

* Indicates information attached.
** Indicates information to be provided before or at the meeting.
Update/Presentation indicates verbal report provided at meeting no materials attached.



Park District of Oak Park  
 218 Madison Street  Oak Park, Illinois 60302  phone: (708) 725-2000  fax: (708) 725-2301  www.pdop.org 

Memo
To: Chris Wolmuth, Chair, Administration and Finance Committee 

Board of Park Commissioners 

From: Jan Arnold, Executive Director 

Date: August 28, 2025 

Re: Board of Commissioner’s General Practices Manual Update 

Statement 

The Park District of Oak Park’s elected Board of Commissioners use the General Practices Manual (Manual) in their 
day-to-day workings with the Park District. The Manual is meant to be used as a guide throughout their tenure.   

Discussion 

The Manual was last approved in September 2024. Since the last approval, the only updates were regarding 
existing groups that the PDOP has existing liaison relationships and the addition of holding no Committee of the 
Whole Meetings during July and August. 

Recommendation 

Staff recommends that the Board approve the updates to the Board of Commissioner’s General Practice Manual. 

Attachment: Board of Commissioner’s General Practices Manual 





Board of Commissioner’s

TABLE OF CONTENTS
– ..................................................................................

1.1 Purpose........................................................................................................................................ 1
1.2 Biennial Review............................................................................................................................ 1

– ...........................................................................

– .................................................................
3.1 Boar  o  o issioners  er  o  e ..................................................................................... 2
3.2 o o pensa on ........................................................................................................................ 3
3.3 Board Authority Pursuant to State Law ....................................................................................... 3
3.4 A ons a en in Representa ve apa ity ................................................................................... 3
3.5 olle ve e ision- a in .......................................................................................................... 3
3.6 Poli y a in  is Pri ary Role ....................................................................................................... 3
3.7 or ula on o  Poli ies  Rules  Re ula ons................................................................................. 3
3.8 Board Retreat and Goal-Se n ................................................................................................... 3
3.9 e u ve ire tor is Pri ary Board Resour e............................................................................. 3
3.10 utside n uen es....................................................................................................................... 4
3.11 Poli al Advo a y ........................................................................................................................ 4
3.12 edia Rela ons ........................................................................................................................... 4
3.13 is al Responsi ili es .................................................................................................................. 4
3.14 Plannin  Responsi ili es ............................................................................................................. 4
3.15 nter overn ental and ivi  oopera on................................................................................... 5
3.16 Board o i ees  as  or es................................................................................................... 6
3.17 Re rui n  and rainin ................................................................................................................ 6
3.18 ew Board e er rienta on................................................................................................. 6
3.19 epo s  Prohi ited.................................................................................................................... 6
3.20 a an ies in e ....................................................................................................................... 6

– ....................................................................................................................7
4.1 President...................................................................................................................................... 7
4.2 i e-President.............................................................................................................................. 7
4.3 Se retary...................................................................................................................................... 7
4.4 Treasurer...................................................................................................................................... 7

.

– .................................................................................................................8
5.1 Re ular onthly Board ee n s................................................................................................ 8
5.2 Spe ial ee n s.......................................................................................................................... 8
5.3 Annual ee n ........................................................................................................................... 8
5.4 ee n  A endan e .................................................................................................................... 8
5.5 Prepara on o  ee n  A endas................................................................................................. 8
5.6 e u ve ire tor s A endan e at ee n s.............................................................................. 8
5.7 Quorum ....................................................................................................................................... 9
5.8 o n ........................................................................................................................................... 9
5.9 Ro erts Rules o  rder ................................................................................................................ 9
5.10 pen ee n s ............................................................................................................................ 9
5.11 e u ve Sessions ....................................................................................................................... 9
5.12 e ve ee n s ....................................................................................................................... 9
5.13 Pu li  omment .......................................................................................................................... 9
5.14 e ve ommuni a ons .........................................................................................................10



Board of Commissioner’s

– ...........................................................................................................
6.1 Board Authority to sta lish Standin  ommi ees ..................................................................10
6.2 ommi ee o  the hole ...........................................................................................................10
6.3 ther Standin  ommi ees Generally......................................................................................10
6.4 Administra on and inan e ommi ee....................................................................................10
6.5 Re rea on and a ility Pro rammin  ommi ee .....................................................................11
6.6 Par s and Plannin  ommi ee..................................................................................................11

– Personnel Policies ............................................................................................................
7.1 Board Responsi ility to sta lish Personnel Poli ies.................................................................11
7.2 mployment o  e u ve ire tor ............................................................................................11
7.3 e u ve ire tor Responsi ili es............................................................................................11
7.4 Quali ed mployees..................................................................................................................11
7.5 mployees  Per orman e o  u es ...........................................................................................12

– .......................................................................................................
8.1 General ......................................................................................................................................12
8.2 is al ear ..................................................................................................................................12
8.3 Annual Bud et  Appropria on rdinan e .................................................................................12
8.4 Annual Tax Levy .........................................................................................................................12
8.5 Annual Audit ..............................................................................................................................12
8.6 Pro ram ees .............................................................................................................................13
8.7 e t Servi e Prin iples and Pro edures ....................................................................................13
8.8 Bond Sales .................................................................................................................................14
8.9 Grants ........................................................................................................................................14
8.10 ompe ve Biddin ..................................................................................................................14
8.11 Pro urement ards....................................................................................................................14

– ..............................................................................................................
9.1 Tours o  a ili es .......................................................................................................................15
9.2 Land A uisi on ........................................................................................................................15
9.3 Property Leases .........................................................................................................................15
9.4 istori  Sites ..............................................................................................................................15

– .........................................................................................................
10.1 Sta  and Board du a on and Trainin .....................................................................................15
10.2 em ership in AP  and RPA .................................................................................................16
10.3 Annual alendar o  A ons and A vi es.................................................................................16
10.4 Use of Expert Consultants .........................................................................................................16
10.5 A eptan e of ona ons...........................................................................................................16
10.6 Re o ni on of ut oin  Board em ers.................................................................................16
10.7 Liaison Role................................................................................................................................16

APPENDIX –



Board of Commissioner’s

Pa e 1

–

1.1 Purpose
This General Pra es anual  adopted unanimously y the Board of Commissioners of 
the Par  istri t of a  Par  the istri t  sets forth many asi  poli ies and tenets to 

uide the Board of Commissioner the Board  as it overns the istri t. This Manual is 
not intended to e omprehensive in nature  the Board maintains poli ies  rules  
re ula ons  and uidelines in addi on to those set forth in this Manual. or is this Manual 
intended to e ri id and indin  on all ma ers addressed in it. Rather  the provisions of 
this Manual are a manifesta on of the Board s desire to esta lish asi  standards for 
appropriate de ision-ma in  proto ol  and ondu t in the servi e of the residents of the 

istri t. Throu h the use of this Manual  the Board hopes to ensure ood  honest  and 
a ounta le representa on of its ons tuents.

1.2 Biennial Review
t is the inten on of the Board to review this Manual iennially for onsisten y with 

appli a le law and the pra es of the Board. This Manual may e revised in wri n  y 
majority vote of the Board.

–

This is the mission of the istri t  n partnership with the ommunity  we enri h lives y 
providin  meanin ful experien es throu h pro ram  par s  and fa ili es.

The istri t s par s and other fa ili es provide uality open spa e and re rea on 
opportuni es for all istri t residents  and the Board will wor  persistently to maintain the 
availa ility of the istri t s par s  other fa ili es  and pro rams for enera ons to ome. The 
Board strives to provide an ex ellent par s and re rea on system that is deeply inte rated into 
the dis n ve a  Par  livin  experien e. The Board elieves that the system is a major 
ontri utor to the enhan ed uality of life that exists in a  Par . The Board values and respe ts 

the history of a  Par  and of the istri t  the istri t s ivi  involvement  and the istri t s 
tradi on of innova on  and the Board stron ly onsiders these fa tors as it plans for the future.

The Board elieves stron ly in the value of i en par ipa on in the Board s overnan e 
of the istri t. The Board thus will ondu t the usiness of the istri t in an open and 
ommuni a ve fashion  see in  feed a  and advi e whenever possi le. The Board will rea h 

out to all residents of the istri t to ensure that all are served e ually to the fullest extent possi le 
with the resour es of the istri t.

The Board elieves that one ey to maintainin  an ex ellent par and re rea on system is 
to sustain partnerships with other a en ies throu hout the ommunity who an ontri ute to the 
servi es provided y the istri t. These valua le partnerships may e with a en ies within the 

istri t s oundaries or outside of them. The Board is ommi ed to see in  out these 
partnerships.



Board of Commissioner’s

Pa e 2

n addi on  the Board is ommi ed to preservin  the open spa es it owns even while 
o erin  innova ve  hi h- uality pro rams.

n strivin  for ex ellen e  the istri t is ommi ed to

E e ve Communi a on  The Board will e a en ve to the istri t s residents y 
rou nely soli i n  pu li  feed a  and y wel omin  ideas and advi e. The Board s 
pro esses and pro edures will fa ilitate and re e t open and e e ve ommuni a on.

n lusion  The Board re o ni es the ommunity s diverse popula on and will strive to 
provide par s and re rea on opportuni es to all  re ardless of e onomi  means  
disa ili es  or other hallen es.

undin  The Board will a ressively pursue e onomi  sta ility throu h sound s al 
mana ement and e ient use of resour es.

Partnerships  The Board is ommi ed to wor in  e e vely with others  esta lishin  and 
stren thenin  onds with overnmental a en ies as well as other ommunity 
or ani a ons and user roups  for the e erment of the ommunity.

Customer Servi e and Professional Condu t  The Board will demonstrate the hi hest 
standards of ethi al ondu t  trea n  everyone with ourtesy and respe t and re o ni in  
diverse opinions and needs. The Board will listen arefully and will respond to re uests in 
a prompt and respe ul manner.

Plannin  The Board will desi n lon -term strate ies and set measura le oals while 
proa vely see in  posi ve solu ons to pro lems and hallen es.

Evalua on  The Board will maintain an on- oin  pro ess of evalua n  its performan e and 
e e veness and will measure the su ess of implemented poli ies and strate ies.

Safety  The Board will a vely implement sound safety pra es in our fa ili es and in all 
aspe ts of the wor  of the istri t  strivin  to provide a safe environment for users and 
employees of the par s system.

The Board will value ea h onta t with residents and pursue ea h onta t as an 
opportunity to demonstrate these hi hly re arded values.

–

3.1 Board of Commissioners  Term of e
The istri t is overned y a Board of Commissioners omprised of ve ele ted mem ers  
ea h of whom serves a four-year term. The Board elieves that a ve-mem er oard is 



Board of Commissioner’s

Pa e 3

appropriate for the si e of the istri t and that a term of servi e to the istri t of four 
years is in the est interests of the istri t.

3.2 o Compensa on
The mem ers of the Board shall serve without salary or other ompensa on ex ept 
reim ursement of expenses as provided in this Manual.

3.3 Board Authority Pursuant to State Law
The Board fun ons under the authority of the llinois Par  istri t Code  65 LCS 1205 1-
1 et se . and within the framewor  of appli a le State of llinois and federal laws.

3.4 A ons Ta en in Representa ve Capa ity
Board mem ers  olle vely and individually  a t as representa ves of the residents of the 

istri t in maintainin  and promo n  the istri t s par s  other fa ili es  and pro rams. 
Throu h areful evalua on of needs  resour es  and other fa tors  Board mem ers ma e 
de isions that determines the est way to serve the ommunity as a whole.

3.5 Colle ve e ision-Ma in
n the dis har e of their du es  Board mem ers a t olle vely as a Board and not as 

individuals. Board mem ers always should a ide y the majority vote of the Board and 
support the determina on of that majority. Also  an individual Board mem er should not 
spea  for the Board unless authori ed to do so y the Board. t would e improper and ill-
advised for an individual Board mem er to ma e a pu li  pronoun ement or en a e in 
onje ture a out a Board ma er that has not yet een de ided  an a on of the Board or 

any ma er that has een dis ussed in an exe u ve session of the Board.

3.6 Poli yma in  is Primary Role
The Board on erns itself primarily with ues ons of poli y rather than with 
administra ve ma ers. The istri t s Exe u ve ire tor is har ed with the administra ve 
responsi ility of implemen n the Board s poli ies.

3.7 ormula on of Poli ies  Rules  Re ula ons
The Board shall ena t and maintain appropriate poli ies  rules  and re ula ons related to 
the opera ons of the istri t and the istri t s fa ili es  and the Board shall see that su h 
poli ies  rules  and re ula ons are administered e e vely.

3.8 Board Retreat and Goal-Se n
The Board re o ni es that it is important to evaluate itself and esta lish oals for the 
Board from me to me. The Board shall ondu t an annual retreat at whi h the Board 
shall underta e a self-evalua on and formulate oals for itself. All Board mem ers are very 
stron ly en oura ed to a end the retreat.

3.9 Exe u ve ire tor is Primary Board Resour e
Board mem ers should respe t the Board s ommitment to implement its poli ies throu h 
the Exe u ve ire tor and to rely on the Exe u ve ire tor to handle the administra ve 
fun ons of the istri t. Board mem ers should re uest desired informa on from the 



Board of Commissioner’s

Pa e 4

Exe u ve ire tor rather than from other employees of the istri t. Board mem ers also 
should refer in uiries  informa on  omplaints  and other ommuni a ons made to them 

y residents a out istri t ma ers to the Exe u ve ire tor. Board mem ers also should 
support the a ons of the Exe u ve ire tor when those a ons have een dire ted  
ra ed  or otherwise supported y the Board.

3.10 utside n uen es
Be ause ea h a on ta en y a Board mem er in the ourse of his or her du es should 

e mo vated y the istri t s est interests  a Board mem er should e free of undue 
outside in uen es and of self-interest. Board mem ers shall a ide y State laws related 
to on i ts of interests  nan ial or otherwise. A Board mem er should advise the 
Exe u ve ire tor of all mem erships and nan ial interests that Board mem er has in 
ompanies or or ani a ons that are doin  usiness with the istri t.

3.11 Poli al Advo a y
Many of the a vi es of the istri t are funded with money from County  State  and 
federal a en ies. n addi on  many of the a vi es of the istri t are a e ted y the laws 
of County  State  and federal a en ies. or that reason  it is useful that the Board stay 
informed a out pendin  le isla on that is of interest to the istri t. hen appropriate  
the Board shall en oura e its mem ers to onta t County  State  and federal ele ted 
representa ves to advo ate the est interests of the istri t.

3.12 Media Rela ons
The desi nated spo espersons for the istri t are the Board President and the Exe u ve 

ire tor. Re uests y the media for omments should e referred to those 
representa ves. Under some ir umstan es it may e appropriate for a Board mem er 
other than the President to spea  to a media representa ve a out a ma er with whi h 
that Board mem er has par ular experien e or exper se. t is never appropriate  
however  for a Board mem er to spea  to a media representa ve without rst nowin  
all of the fa ts and ir umstan es a out the ma er of in uiry. f a Board mem er spea s 
for himself or herself  then that Board mem er rst should e fully informed a out the 
ma er at hand and should learly state that his or her omments are ein  made as a 
private resident and not as a representa ve of the istri t. Even then  a Board mem er 
should remem er that omments made as a private resident are li ely to e a ri uted to 
the istri t.

3.13 is al Responsi ili es
The Board shall esta lish a ud et  appropriate funds  and levy taxes annually for the 
various opera ons of the istri t  in a ordan e with State law. See Ar le 8 of this 
Manual related to s al responsi ili es.

3.14 Plannin  Responsi ili es
The Board shall provide for the plannin  improvement  nan in  onstru on  and 
maintenan e of the par s and other fa ili es  e uipment  and property of the istri t. 
Amon  other thin s  the Board shall underta e the followin



Board of Commissioner’s

Pa e 5

a Master Plans. The Board shall maintain a master plan that in ludes provisions for 
ea h of the istri t s par s and other ey fa ili es. The Board shall endeavor to 
eep the master plan urrent and shall underta e a thorou h review of the master 

plan at least as o en as every 10 years.

Capital Proje ts Plan. The Board shall maintain a 5- ear Capital Proje ts Plan that 
fore asts the istri t s apital proje t needs. The Plan should in lude provisions 
related to proposed apital improvements  par  and fa ility maintenan e and 
repairs  e uipment repla ement  maintenan e  and repairs  vehi le needs  
es mated osts  poten al fundin  sour es  and similar ma ers. The Plan should 

e reviewed not less o en than iennially.

3.15 nter overnmental and Civi  Coopera on
The Board en oura es oopera on with other a en ies in the ommunity  in ludin  

overnmental  pu li  private  and voluntary or ani a ons that enhan e the servi es 
provided to istri t and a t onsistently with the est interests and well- ein  of the 

istri t. The Board has reated many ene ial rela onships with or ani a ons that 
underta e a vi es onsistent with the est interests of the istri t. The Board supports 
the followin  poli ies

a Promo on of Coopera on. The Board en oura es Board mem ers and the 
Exe u ve ire tor to promote inter overnmental and ivi  oopera on throu h 
appropriate rela onships etween istri t o ials and sta  and the o ials and 
sta  of other a en ies.

Rela onships with Par ular Groups  Liaisons. The Board desires to maintain its 
valua le rela onships with the Memorial Trust Commi ee the Par  istri t Ci en 
Commi ee  the riends of the a  Par  Conservatory  and various sports and ivi  

roups. Board mem ers may e appointed to serve as liaisons etween the istri t 
and some of these or ani a ons.

S hool istri ts 97 and 200. The Board en oura es oopera on etween the 
istri t and the a  Par  S hool istri ts 97 and 200 in the development and use 

of fa ili es and e uipment  when su h oopera on results in e ient and 
e e ve pro rammin  that is ene ial to the istri t  the s hool distri t  and 
residents. Su h oopera on may e memoriali ed in le ers of a reement etween 
the istri t and a s hool distri t.

d est Su ur an Spe ial Re rea on Asso ia on. The Board is ommi ed to helpin  
provide for the re rea on needs of spe ial popula ons within the istri t  
in ludin  senior i ens and individuals with spe ial needs or disa ili es. n 
furtheran e of that ommitment  the istri t shall remain an a ve mem er of the 

est Su ur an Spe ial Re rea on Asso ia on.



Board of Commissioner’s

Pa e 6

e Coun il of Governments. The Exe u ve ire tor and at least one Board mem er 
should a end the mee n s of the a  Par  Coun il of Governments.

3.16 Board Commi ees  Tas  or es
Currently there are four standin  ommi ees of the Board. See Ar le 6 of this Manual 
re ardin  the standin  ommi ees and other ommi ees and tas  for es of the Board.

3.17 Re rui n  and Trainin
The Board re o ni es that  as ood leaders  the mem ers of the Board should e a vely 
involved in see in  out uali ed residents of the istri t to run for a posi on on the Board. 
n addi on  Board mem ers should ta e an a ve role trainin  newly ele ted Board 

mem ers. Sta  share and prepare an informa on pa et ontainin  essen al informa on 
to e availa le to perspe ve andidates. Addi onally  at least one informa onal session 
with the Exe u ve ire tor and epartment eads must ta e pla e.

3.18 ew Board Mem er rienta on
The Board shall assist with the orienta on of new Board mem ers y

a Providin  assistan e to the Exe u ve ire tor with prepara on of wri en 
materials  whi h shall in lude  amon  other materials  the followin

1 This Manual
2 The llinois Par  istri t Code
3 The Commissioner Resour e Pamphlet
4 The Par  istri t Personnel and oo
5 The Rules and Re ula ons Governin  the Use of Par  a ili es

Arran in  the opportunity for new Board mem ers to a end the AP  new 
ommissioner orienta on.

Providin  a tour of the istri t s par s and other fa ili es.

d Arran in  mee n s with the Board President  the Exe u ve ire tor  the eputy 
ire tors  the Superintendents or ire tors  and other sta  as determined y the 

Exe u ve ire tor  for the purpose of explainin  the istri t s or ani a onal 
stru ture and the plannin  nan ial  and ud et pro edures of the Board.

3.19 epo sm Prohi ited
o mem er of a Commissioner s immediate family shall e eli i le to e ome a paid 

employee of the istri t.

3.20 a an ies in e
The Board shall de lare va ant the o e of any Commissioner who dies  resi ns  eases 
to e a resident within the istri t  or otherwise is rendered y law as un uali ed to serve 



Board of Commissioner’s

Pa e 7

as a Commissioner. A va an y shall e lled y appointment of the Board President with 
the onsent of the Board. Appli a ons for appointments shall e soli ited y the Board 
dire tly and y adver sement in a lo al newspaper of eneral ir ula on. The Board shall 
esta lish a pro ess for review of andidates determined y the Board to e est uali ed 
for appointment. The appointed Commissioner shall serve un l his or her repla ement 
has een ele ted and uali ed for o e in the manner provided y law.

–

4.1 President
The Board President shall e the hief exe u ve o er of the Board. The President shall 

e the presidin  o er at mee n s of the Board. The President shall appoint  annually  
the mem ers and hairpersons of the standin  ommi ees of the Board. The President  
with the onsent of the Board  shall appoint the mem ers of spe ial ommi ees reated 

y the Board. The President shall appoint a Se retary pro tempore of the Board to serve 
in the a sen e of the Se retary. The President shall si n all ordinan es passed y the Board 
and all su h other do uments and papers of the istri t that y law re uire a si nature. 
The President shall see that poli ies of the Board are enfor ed and that orders of the Board 
are faithfully exe uted. The President s vote shall e alled for on all ma ers efore the 
Board in the normal vo n  rota on with the other Commissioners.

4.2 i e-President
The Board i e-President shall perform the du es of the President in the President s 
a sen e or refusal or ina ility to a t.

4.3 Se retary
The Board Se retary shall oversee the ta in  omple on  and re ordin  of all minutes  
ordinan es  orders  and resolu ons of the Board. The Se retary shall e responsi le for all 
o ial orresponden e of the Board. f the President and i e-President oth are a sent 
from a mee n  at whi h a uorum of Commissioners is present  then the Se retary shall 
all the mee n  to order and all for sele on of a President pro tempore for that mee n  
y a majority vote of the Commissioners present. The Se retary shall e present at all 

mee n s of the Board.

4.4 Treasurer
The Board Treasurer  in onjun on with the Exe u ve ire tor and the ire tor of 
Business pera ons  report to the Board monthly all re eipts and dis ursements of the 

istri t and shall su mit su h nan ial statements and detailed informa on as may e 
re uired y the Board.



Board of Commissioner’s

Pa e 8

–

5.1 Re ular Monthly Board Mee n s
The re ular mee n s of the Board are held on the third Thursday of the month at 7 30 
p.m. at the ohn ed es Administra ve Center  218 Madison Street  ex ept otherwise 
posted y the Board in a ordan e with the llinois pen Mee n s A t.

5.2 Spe ial Mee n s
Spe ial mee n s of the Board may e alled y the Board President or y any two 
mem ers of the Board. o e of su h mee n s sta n  the me and pla e of the mee n  
and the a enda for the mee n  shall e provided to Board mem ers and shall e 
delivered and posted as re uired y the llinois pen Mee n s A t.

5.3 Annual Mee n
The o ial Annual Mee n  of the Board will e held on the rst Thursday of May or as 
soon therea er as pra a le and shall in lude the ele on of the Board o ers  
in ludin  the President  i e-President  Se retary  and Treasurer. See Ar le 4 of this 
Manual related to Board o ers.

5.4 Mee n  A endan e
Althou h it li ely is not possi le for ea h Board mem er to a end every Board mee n  
Board mem ers should strive to do so. A reo urrin  pa ern of missed mee n s is unfair 
to other Board mem ers and to the istri t.

5.5 Prepara on of Mee n  A endas
The Exe u ve ire tor  in onsulta on with the Board President  is responsi le for 
preparin  the a endas for all Board mee n s and Board ommi ee mee n s. The 
Exe u ve ire tor shall ause the Board and the istri t s General Counsel to re eive 
appropriate a enda materials no less than three days efore ea h mee n  in ludin  su h 
items as the mee n  a enda  explanatory materials related to items on the a enda  a 
s hedule of a ounts paya le set for approval  an a ount of the istri t s in ome and 
expenditures  and monthly sta  reports as appropriate. The a enda for re ular mee n s 
of the Board enerally shall e stru tured as follows  provided that the Exe u ve ire tor  
with the on urren e of the Board President  may revise the a enda from me to me as 
appropriate dependin  on the urrent usiness of the Board  1  Call to rder and Roll 
Call  2  Approval of A enda  3  isitors Comments  4  Consent A enda  5  Sta  Reports
6  ld Business  7  ew Business  8  Commissioners Comments  9  Exe u ve Session 
if ne essary  10  Adjournment.

5.6 Exe u ve ire tor s A endan e at Mee n s
The Exe u ve ire tor  or if the Exe u ve ire tor in una le to a end then his or her 
desi nee  shall e present at all mee n s of the Board.



Board of Commissioner’s

Pa e 9

5.7 Quorum
The Board is omprised of ve Commissioners. Three Commissioners ons tute a uorum 
of the Board.

5.8 o n
or purposes of vo n  on ma ers that ome efore the Board  the roll shall e alled for 

all ma ers involvin  the expenditure of istri t funds  rea n  a penalty or ne  rea n  
a lia ility for the istri t  or as otherwise provided y law. n a roll all vote  the ayes  nays  
and a sen e of the Commissioners shall e re orded. The roll shall e alled in rota n  
order su h that the vo n  order is di erent for su essive roll alls votes. The ini a on 
and se ondin  of mo ons also shall e re orded.

5.9 Ro erts Rules of rder
To the extent not otherwise provided in this Manual or other rules or pro edures of the 

istri t  the Board may rely on the parliamentary pro edures set forth in Ro ert s Rules 
of rder to resolve ues ons of pro edure.

5.10 pen Mee n s
All re ular  spe ial  and on nued mee n s of the Board and any ommi ees and other 
Board-appointed tas  for es and ommissions shall e no ed and ondu ted in 
a ordan e with the llinois pen Mee n s A t. All mee n s shall e open to the pu li  
ex ept when an exe u ve session is alled in a ordan e with that a t.

5.11 Exe u ve Sessions
The Board may all exe u ve sessions at su h mes and pla es as may e re uired for 
private dis ussion of personnel ma ers  pendin  pro a le  or imminent li a on  land 
a uisi on  and other ma ers as provided y the llinois pen Mee n s A t.

5.12 E e ve Mee n s
The Board re o ni es that the most e e ve  a essi le mee n s are those at whi h 
items of usiness are handled e iently  with the ne essary and appropriate amount of 
dis ussion ut without unduly len thy or repe ve de ate or prolon ed spee hma in  

y Board mem ers or mem ers of pu li . etailed dis ussions amon  Board mem ers of 
ma ers omin  efore the Board enerally should ta e pla e durin  the mee n s of the 
Commi ee of the hole or other standin  ommi ee. Board mem ers should prepare 
themselves for mee n s y readin  the materials provided to them and ma in  
appropriate in uiries of the Exe u ve ire tor prior to the mee n s.

5.13 Pu li  Comment
Mem ers of the pu li  will e allowed to spea  durin  the Pu li Comments  por on of 
a re ular mee n  of the Board  unless the usiness or ir umstan es of the Board at a 
par ular mee n  pre ludes pu li  omment. The eneral rule shall e that an individual 
shall not have more than three minutes to ma e his or her omments and that repe ve 
omments are dis oura ed. The Board also sets a limit of 30 minutes for pu li  omment



Board of Commissioner’s

Pa e 10

to fa ilitate the proper and orderly ondu t of the mee n  and the omple on of the 
Board s usiness.

5.14 E e ve Communi a ons
Pro esses and pro edures of the istri t will e desi ned to fa ilitate e e ve 
ommuni a on of the Board s poli ies and usiness de isions.

 – 

6.1 Board Authority to Esta lish Standin  Commi ees
The Board  y majority vote  may desi nate standin  ommi ees of the Board from me 
to me  and in so doin  the Board shall esta lish the purpose and s ope of authority of 
su h ommi ees. The Board also may esta lish mee n  mes and pla es for its standin  
ommi ees from me to me. The Board urrently maintains four standin  ommi ees – 

the Commi ee of the hole  the Administra on and inan e Commi ee  the Re rea on 
and a ility Pro rammin  Commi ee  and the Par s and Plannin  Commi ee. 

6.2 Commi ee of the hole
The Commi ee of the hole of the Board  omprised of all ve Board mem ers  meets 
at 7 30 p.m. on the rst Thursday of ea h month other than uly and Au ust  at the John 

ed es Administra ve Center  218 Madison Street. The mee n  me and pla e may e 
han ed y the Board from me to me  provided that no e of su h han e shall e 
iven in a ordan e with the llinois pen Mee n s A t. The Board President shall e the 

presidin  o er of the Commi ee of the hole. The a endas for mee n s of the
Commi ee of the hole shall e prepared y the Exe u ve ire tor in onsulta on with 
the Board President.

6.3 ther Standin  Commi ees Generally
The other standin  ommi ees of the Board shall meet and dis uss their usiness durin  
the mee n s of the Commi ee of the hole. A ommi ee may determine to meet at a 
separate me  provided that no e of su h han e shall e iven in a ordan e with the 
llinois pen Mee n s A t. A ommi ee shall e advisory to the Board only and shall not 
e authori ed to ta e any nal a on on any ma er of Board usiness. A ommi ee shall 

ma e its re ommenda ons to the Board in wri n  whether y a ommi ee report  y 
memorandum of the Exe u ve ire tor  or y some other suita le format. The ommi ee 
hairman may appoint non-Board mem ers to serve as mem ers of the ommi ee. The 

President of the Board shall serve as an ex-o io mem er of all ommi ees.

6.4 Administra on and inan e Commi ee
The Administra on and inan e Commi ee shall e haired y the Board Treasurer. This 
ommi ee is har ed with the onsidera on of and re ommenda ons to the Board 

re ardin  issues rela n  to ud ets  nan e  strate i  plannin  poli y  omputer 
te hnolo y  personnel  insuran e  and related ma ers.



Board of Commissioner’s

Pa e 11

6.5 Re rea on and a ility Pro rammin  Commi ee
The Re rea on and a ility Pro rammin  Commi ee shall e haired y the Board 
Se retary. This ommi ee is har ed with onsidera on of and re ommenda ons to the 
Board re ardin  all rela n  to fa ility usa e  re rea onal pro rammin  ommuni a ons  
mar e n  and related ma ers.

6.6 Par s and Plannin Commi ee
The Par s and Plannin  Commi ee shall e haired y the Board i e-President. This 
ommi ee is har ed with onsidera on of and re ommenda ons to the Board re ardin  

par  proper es  land a uisi on and development  uildin s and rounds maintenan e  
rants  histori  preserva on  apital proje ts  and related ma ers.

– Personnel Policies

7.1 Board Responsi ility to Esta lish Personnel Poli ies
The Board shall have the responsi ility of esta lishin  poli ies overnin  istri t 
Employees. The Board may adopt and maintain a personnel hand oo  that esta lishes 
the terms  rules  and poli ies related to employment with the istri t.

7.2 Employment of Exe u ve ire tor
The Board shall employ a properly edu ated and trained professional to serve as Exe u ve 

ire tor  the hief administra ve o er of the istri t. The du es and terms and 
ondi ons of employment of the Exe u ve ire tor may e set forth y wri en ontra t 
etween the Board and the Exe u ve ire tor for a spe i  term. The Exe u ve ire tor 

shall serve at the will of the Board and shall e su je t to the poli ies and dire on of the 
Board. The Board shall evaluate the performan e of the Exe u ve ire tor annually.

7.3 Exe u ve ire tor Responsi ili es
The Exe u ve ire tor shall e the hief administra ve o er of the istri t. The 
Exe u ve ire tor shall e responsi le for the hirin  mana ement  dis ipline  
termina on  and other ma ers related to istri t employees. The Exe u ve ire tor also 
shall e responsi le for the e ient opera on of the istri t onsistent with Board-
esta lished poli ies. The Exe u ve ire tor also shall serve as advisor to the Board on 
ma ers of poli y forma on. The Exe u ve ire tor shall e har ed with overseein  the 
prepara on of the annual wor in  ud et detailin  sour es and amounts of revenues and 
expenditures for ea h fund levied y the istri t.

7.4 Quali ed Employees
The Board re o ni es that the istri t ompetes oth with private en es and other 
pu li  a en ies for well- uali ed  hi h- uality employees. The Board understands the 
importan e of en oura in  and suppor n  the Exe u ve ire tor s a ility to maintain  
within reasona le nan ial onstraints  a poli y of providin  a suita le salary and ene ts 
pro ram for the employees of the istri t.



Board of Commissioner’s

Pa e 12

7.5 Employees  Performan e of u es
o Board mem er shall inhi it  o stru t  or otherwise interfere with any istri t 

employee in the performan e of his or her assi ned du es. All in uiries rela n  to a 
istri t employee should e dire ted only to the Exe u ve ire tor.

–

8.1 General
The Board shall exer ise prudent nan ial jud ment and pra es so that the istri t 
remains nan ially sound. The Board shall review and approve the proposed annual 

ud et for the istri t. The Board also shall re ularly review reports re ardin  the 
istri t s nan ial status  in ludin  a ounts paya le  urrent status of ea h of the funds 

of the istri t  and similar reports.

8.2 is al ear
The s al year of the istri t ommen es on January 1 and ends on the followin  

e em er 31.

8.3 Annual Bud et  Appropria on rdinan e
The Board shall review and approve an annual ud et a er review and re ommenda on 
of the Administra on and inan e Commi ee. The presenta on of the ud et shall 
in lude a wri en des rip on of the si ni ant han es to the prior year s ud et as well 
as review of the ud eted and proje ted revenues and expenditures for ea h fund in prior 

s al year  the results of si ni ant or ani a onal  opera onal  or a oun n  han es  
and the meta le for review  revision  pu li  display  and adop on of the ud et and 
appropria on ordinan e  the annual tax levy ordinan e  and the Truth-in-Taxa on hearin  
if one is ne essary . The Exe u ve ire tor shall supervise the prepara on of the 

proposed ud et and appropria on ordinan e in onsulta on with the ire tor of 
Business pera ons and the istri t s General Counsel. The proposed ud et and 
appropria on ordinan e shall e released for pu li  inspe on in the manner provided y 
law. The Board will hold a pu li  hearin  on the proposed ud et and appropria on 
ordinan e. The Board shall approve a ud et at a Board mee n  prior to the e innin  of 
the istri t s s al year  usually at the re ular mee n  of the Board in e em er.

8.4 Annual Tax Levy
The Board shall onsider and approve a tax levy ordinan e annually in a ordan e with 
the s hedule esta lished y law. The annual tax levy ordinan e shall e approved y the 
Board no later than the re ular mee n  of the Board in e em er and led with the Coo  
County Cler  within the deadline for lin  esta lished y law.

8.5 Annual Audit
The Board shall ondu t an annual audit usin  an independent audi n  rm. The Board s 
poli y is for full dis losure of per nent nan ial reports. The istri t s a oun n  
pro edures shall onform to all appli a le standards  in ludin  a epted prin iples and 



Board of Commissioner’s

Pa e 13

standards of the Governmental inan ial ers Asso ia on  the a onal Commi ee on 
Government A oun n  and the Governmental A oun n  Standards Board.

8.6 Pro ram ees
The Board shall maintain a revenue poli y that re o ni es the various osts related to the 

istri t s fa ili es and pro rams  in ludin  without limita on fa ili es opera ons osts  
fa ili es maintenan e osts  pro ram osts  and administra ve osts. That revenue poli y 
also shall re o ni e the various types of pro rams provided y the istri t and the s ope 
of those pro rams  in ludin  without limita on ommunity-wide pro rams for example 
spe ial events  that ene t the ommunity as a whole  ommunity- ased spe ial interest 
pro rams for example swimmin  lessons and teen pro rams  that ene t oth 
par ipants and the ommunity as a whole  and revenue pro rams for example 

ymnas s and summer amps  that prin ipally ene t the par ipants. Pro ram fees 
should e esta lished and adjusted ased oth on osts and expenses and pro ram type.

8.7 e t Servi e Prin iples and Pro edures
nappropriate levels of de t an reate nan ial di ulty. or example  short-term 
orrowin  to over rou ne osts an e expensive and may e a si n that the istri t is 
e omin  nan ially overextended. urther  an unduly hi h level of de t may pla e an 

undue nan ial urden on the taxpayers and there y adversely a e t the health of the 
lo al usiness ommunity. Reasona le levels of de t  however  may provide a me hanism 
to redu e osts for the istri t y allowin  fundin  of proje ts or e uipment pur hases 
sooner than possi le if those proje ts or e uipment pur hases were paid with urrent 
funds  thus redu in  or ne a n  ost in reases due to in a on. ssuin  de t also is a 
me hanism for spreadin  the osts of apital improvements e uita ly amon  urrent 
users and future users of the improvements. The Board also re o ni es that the ondi on 
of the istri t s fa ili es  e uipment  and pro rams are an important omponent in 
maintainin  the desira ility of the area and lo al property. or this reason  too  it may e 
desira le to issue de t to se ure the funds ne essary for maintenan e and improvement 
of the istri t s fa ili es  e uipment  and pro rams. The Board thus intends to adhere to 
the followin  eneral de t poli ies

a The Board will endeavor to a hieve and maintain the hi hest possi le ond ra n  
for the istri t.

Ex ept under extraordinary ir umstan es  avera e annual ond maturi es shall 
not ex eed 20 years.

The istri t will endeavor to maintain minimum reserves in the e t Servi e und 
at least e ual to the next re uired prin ipal and interest payments on outstandin  
de t.

d Ex ept in emer en ies or other extraordinary ir umstan es  orrowin  shall e 
underta en only to fund to apital improvements in luded in the istri t s 5- ear 
Capital Proje ts Plan.



Board of Commissioner’s

Pa e 14

e Be ause the istri t s authority to issue onds is restri ted y the llinois Property 
Tax Extension Limita on A t s de t servi e extension ase limit  the Board may 
hoose under appropriate ir umstan es to issue de t er ates instead of 
onds.

f o person or ommi ee or other en ty shall e authori ed to reate any nan ial 
lia ility on ehalf of the istri t ex ept only as approved in nature and amount y 
the Board or in a ordan e with the istri t s pur hasin  poli y.

The 5- ear Capital Proje ts Plan shall e the asis for plannin  and onsidera on 
of issuan e of onds or other instruments.

8.8 Bond Sales
Bonds may e issued y private pla ement or throu h an open iddin  pro ess. The 

istri t may invite proposals from par ular nan ial ins tu ons and  if so  shall invite 
nan ial ins tu ons within the oundaries of the istri t to e a part of that proposal 

pro ess. ependin  on the mar et ir umstan es as determined y the Board  the 
Exe u ve ire tor  and any nan ial onsultants advisin  the Board  onds may e 
mar eted pu li ly. The istri t shall e represented y the istri t s General ounsel 
a n  as issuers ounsel  and the istri t also shall retain ond ounsel.

8.9 Grants
The Board shall see  to nan e proposed improvements throu h pu li  or private rants  
whenever feasi le. The Exe u ve ire tor and other sta  shall e vi ilant a out explorin  
all possi ili es for o tainin  rants and other nan ial assistan e.

8.10 Compe ve Biddin
The Exe u ve ire tor shall use a ompe ve iddin  pro ess for pu li  wor s proje ts 
underta en y the istri t  when re uired y law or otherwise appropriate. hen su h a 
proje t has een let for ompe ve iddin  the Board will award the ontra t to the 
lowest responsi le idder in the est interests of the istri t in a ordan e with State law. 
n determinin  the responsi ility of the idder  the Board may onsider the idders  
nan ial responsi ility  eneral experien e  past proje ts of similar nature  ade ua y of 

e uipment  a ility to perform under urrent ir umstan es  referen es  and other 
per nent ma ers. Contra ts for a pu li  wor s proje t should provide that the Board may 
reje t any and all ids when the Board determines that it is in the est interest of the 

istri t to do so.

8.11 Pro urement Cards
The istri t may provide pro urement ards to desi nated employees to fa ilitate the 
pur hase on ehalf of the istri t of approved items from approved vendors  in 
a ordan e with the pro urement poli y.



Board of Commissioner’s

Pa e 15

–

9.1 Tours of a ili es
The Board shall endeavor to tour the istri t s par s and other ey fa ili es at least on e 
ea h year as a roup  to fa ilitate Board mem ers  understandin  of the needs and issues 
related to the istri t s fa ili es. The tour shall e ondu ted y nowled ea le mem ers 
of the istri t s sta . Board mem ers also are stron ly en oura ed to visit and review the 
fa ili es and pro rams of the istri t individually and as o en as possi le. Su h visits 
should e made with due onsidera on for the inte rity of any on- oin  pro ram.

9.2 Land A uisi on
The Board may see  to a uire addi onal land for par  purposes. The followin  ma ers 
should e onsidered as part of the Board s determina on whether to a uire land

a The a uisi on and proposed use of the land will si ni antly enhan e the 
re rea on and leisure a vi es the istri t an provide to its residents.

A uisi on  development  and maintenan e of the land is not in onsistent with 
the istri t s 5- ear Capital Proje ts Plan and an e underta en without viola n  
the Board s s al and fundin  poli ies.

Pu li  approval via voter referendum has een o tained if fundin  re uirements 
annot e met with urrently availa le nan in  me hanisms.

9.3 Property Leases
The istri t may a lease of real property when the Board determines that su h a lease 
would enhan e the a ility of the istri t to provide uality servi es to its residents. Ea h 
su h lease shall e made in a ordan e with the provisions of the llinois Par  istri t 
Code.

9.4 istori  Sites
The Board shall on nue to own  maintain  and operate the histori  fa ili es at Pleasant 

ome  the a  Par  Conservatory  S oville Par  and Cheney Mansion.

–

10.1 Sta  and Board Edu a on and Trainin
The Board elieves that it is in the est interests of the istri t to maintain an informed 
and edu ated istri t sta  and Board. The Board thus elieves that the istri t should pay 
appropriate osts and expenses for the Exe u ve ire tor and other sta  mem ers to 
a end appropriate onferen es  trainin  sessions  and professional development 
mee n s  within the limits of the ud eted funds and as determined y the Exe u ve 

ire tor. The Board also elieves that funds should e provided to pay appropriate osts 
and expenses for Board mem ers to a end seminars  onferen es  and trainin  sessions 



Board of Commissioner’s

Pa e 16

in furtheran e of their a ility to est serve the istri t  as desi nated y the majority of 
the Board.

10.2 Mem ership in AP  and RPA
Based on the determina on that the pro rams  servi es  and informa on provided y the 
AP  and RPA are ene ial to the istri t  the istri t shall maintain mem ership in the 
AP  and RPA unless otherwise determined y the Board. Ea h Board mem er shall have 

an individual mem ership in these or ani a ons. Board mem ers are en oura ed to 
par ipate a vely in these or ani a ons y a endin  events and trainin  and y joinin  
ommi ees.

10.3 Annual Calendar of A ons and A vi es
The Exe u ve ire tor  in onsulta on with the Board President  shall provide the Board  
at or efore the Board s re ular mee n  in e em er  with a alendar of annual  
re urrin  and an ipated Board a ons and a vi es for the up omin  alendar year.

10.4 Use of Expert Consultants
The Board shall see  the advi e of expert onsultants when the Board determines it is 
appropriate and shall use the advi e of those onsultants as an aid for Board de ision-
ma in .

10.5 A eptan e of ona ons
The Board may a ept dona ons of land  e uipment  and other items when the Board 
determines that the a eptan e would e in the est interests of the istri t and only 
when the istri t will a ain full ontrol of the donated item.

10.6 Re o ni on of ut oin  Board Mem ers
Servi e on the Board shall e re o ni ed  upon omple on of the term  y presenta on 
to out oin  Board mem ers of a pla ue or small i  at a re ular Board mee n  typi ally 
durin  the mee n  that in ludes the annual mee n  of the Board.

10.7 Liaison Role
Par  Board Commissioner s serve as liaisons to partner and a liate or ani a ons of the 
Par  istri t to enhan e ommuni a on  maintain onsistent and transparent 
rela onships and there y maximi e the value of the liaison pro ram. Guidelines an e 
found in the Appendix.



APPENDIX



The Par  istri t of a  Par  maintains a poli y of inter overnmental and ivi  oopera on. The Board 
of Commissioners en oura es ommuni a on and oopera on with other lo al overnments and with 
pu li  and private or ani a ons that enhan e Par  istri t pro rams and interests.

These uidelines apply to the Commissioners in their roles as liaisons. By adherin  to these uidelines  
the Commissioners will maintain onsistent and transparent rela onships with the assi ned 
or ani a ons and there y maximi e the value of the liaison pro ram.

General Standards

hen your liaison assi nment is made  onta t your assi ned or ani a on promptly  introdu e 
yourself  and open hannels of ommuni a on  in ludin  mee n  dates  mes  and lo a ons.
A end your assi ned or ani a on s oard mee n s as o en as possi le  a minimum of on e per 

uarter for those or ani a ons that meet monthly.
Be prepared to spea  at a mee n  a out interes n  a vi es or ini a ves of the Par  istri t. 
The Exe u ve ire tor s Report in ludes useful informa on  and you an all the Exe u ve 

ire tor for addi onal informa on.
Ta e notes durin  a mee n  of relevant and interes n  a vi es. Conta t the P P Exe u ve 

ire tor a out any item on whi h she or he should follow up. Provide details as ne essary.
Be prepared to report to your ollea ues on interes n  ma ers at the next Board of 
Commissioner s mee n  as well as share informa on re ardin  fun ons and a vi es related to 
the a liate or ani a on.

mportant Elements

ou are not a mem er of your assi ned or ani a on and thus you should never assume that role. 
ou a end mee n s to listen and o serve  not to as  ues ons a out the opera ons or otherwise 

par ipate in your assi ned or ani a on s usiness items.
ou should not e an advo ate for your assi ned or ani a on or for its pro rams or ini a ves  
ut instead you should remain a neutral listener and o server.
ou should not su est poli ies or pra es for your assi ned or ani a on  even if you are as ed 

to do so.
f you are as ed  then you may answer ues ons a out a Par  istri t ma er  ut you should not 

dis uss any Par  istri t ma er that has not yet een dis ussed in an open mee n  of the Board 
of Commissioners.
As a sin le Commissioner  you annot spea  on ehalf of the Board of Commissioners ex ept 
when the Board has ta en a nal posi on on the ma er or has dire ted you to spea  on a topi  
as a representa ve of the Board.
At any me you have a ues on or on ern a out your liaison assi nment or your assi ned 
or ani a on  you should onta t the Exe u ve ire tor promptly.


